Filed 01-28-2022

Page 1 of 14

FILED 01-28-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2021AP001943-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMMIE L. BLOUNT,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from an Order Denying Postconviction Relief and a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Racine County Circuit Court, the Honorable Maureen M. Martinez, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

FRANCES REYNOLDS COLBERT Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050435

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8374 colbertf@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion when it denied Mr. Blount's postconviction motion for sentence modification?

The circuit court did not address whether a new factor had been established, but denied the motion because it determined a sentence modification wasn't warranted.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. Publication is likely unwarranted, as the issues presented can be decided on the basis of well-established law.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

While incarcerated because he was unable to post bond in another case, Racine County Case No. 20CF329, Mr. Blount was charged in this case with one count of felony stalking, domestic abuse, as party to a crime, for alleged communications with his ex-girlfriend. (2). As part of a plea deal, the state reduced the stalking charge to three counts of disorderly conduct, each with the domestic abuse enhancer and agreed to recommend concurrent time on the two files. (48:2-3). Mr. Blount accepted the offer and entered a guilty plea to the three disorderly conduct charges in this case as well as a guilty plea to

a recklessly endangering safety charge in 20CF329. (48:7).

At sentencing on both cases, the court reviewed the Gallion¹ factors and Mr. Blount's needs. (69:23-27). After imposing a four-year prison sentence consisting of two years confinement followed by two years extended supervision in 20CF329, the court sentenced Mr. Blount to 90 days on each disorderly conduct count which were to run consecutively to each other, but stayed and imposed these sentences in favor of a three year probationary period. (69:27; App. 7). After the sentence was meted out, the prosecutor asked if the probationary period in this case was to be consecutive or concurrent to the sentence in 20CF329. The court responded "it will be (69:29; App. 9). concurrent with his ES, but then it [will] last farther than his ES. Its one more year than his ES is going to go. Because his ES will be two years." (69:29; App. 9).

The prosecutor pointed out to the court that it was not legal to make a probation term concurrent to just the extended supervision portion of the sentence. (69:29; App. 9). Conceding this was true, the court reimposed the three years probation term, this time making it consecutive to the entire sentence in 20CF329. (69:30; App. 9). The effect of this change was to give Mr. Blount five years of supervision following the confinement portion of his sentence in 20CF329, rather than the three it had originally deemed appropriate.

 $^{^{1}}$ State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, $\P 40,\, 270$ Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197

Mr. Blount brought a postconviction motion requesting sentence modification arguing the court erroneously exercised its discretion when it increased the supervision period by two years without explaining why that was warranted and also the court unknowingly overlooked a sentence structure that would have achieved the global sentence of two years confinement followed three years supervision that it had originally deemed appropriate under *Gallion*. ² (55). The circuit court denied the motion. (58).

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when it denied Mr. Blount's motion for sentence modification based on a new factor.

The facts and procedural histories of crimes involved in this case are not important because the issue at the heart of this appeal boils down to the simple question: can a court increase the length of a global sentence that it had deemed appropriate under *Gallion* when no new aggravating facts were presented that would justify the increase? The answer must be no. Here, the court increased the length of supervision simply because it misunderstood the law governing sentence structure. This was an erroneous exercise of discretion and because the court failed to

² Mr. Blount also raised a sentence modification claim based on a new factor related to 20CF329. He does not renew that claim on appeal.

Case 2021AP001943 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-28-2022 Page 7 of 14

consider or impose an alternative sentence structure that would have achieved the original sentencing goal, alternative structures were unknowingly overlooked. A modification to reflect the goals of the original sentence is warranted.

A. Governing law.

A court has inherent authority to modify a sentence, but it may not modify a sentence based on second thoughts and reflection alone. *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶35, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 72, 797 N.W.2d 828, 838. A defendant seeking a sentence modification must demonstrate, by clear and convincing evidence, that there is a new factor to justify the modification. *Id.*, ¶36. A new factor is:

a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties.

Harbor, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶40 (quoting bol v. State, 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975)). If the defendant meets that standard, the circuit court must then determine, in its discretion, whether the new factor justifies sentence modification. *Id.*, ¶37.

Whether a fact or set of facts presented by the defendant constitutes a "new factor" is a question of law. *Id.*, ¶33. This Court reviews questions of law independently of the determinations rendered by lower courts. *Id.* The determination of whether a new factor warrants sentence modification is reviewed for erroneous exercise of discretion. *Id.*

B. Mr. Blount presented a new factor.

After considering the *Gallion* factors, including protection of the community, punishment of the defendant, and rehabilitation of the defendant, and applying these factors to Mr. Blount, the circuit court exercised its discretion and globally determined that Mr. Blount should be supervised for three years following his confinement time. (69:23-27). In order to achieve the global sentencing goal of three years supervision after confinement, the court made the probation sentence in this case concurrent to the two years extended supervision time in 20CF329. (69:29). The court was specific: "it is concurrent with his ES, but then it [will] last farther than his ES [on 20CF329]. Its one more year than his ES...." (69:29).

But Chapter 973 does not allow probation to run concurrently with only the extended supervision portion of another sentence. See Wis. Stat. § 973.09(1)(a). When the illegality of the sentence imposed was pointed out, the court could have altered the sentence structure so that the global sentence would remain two years confinement followed by three years supervision. For example, it could have imposed a one-year probation sentence consecutive to the

Case 2021AP001943 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-28-2022 Page 9 of 14

prison sentence in 20CF329, as Mr. Blount proposed in his post-conviction motion. (55:10). In this way, the global sentence on the two files would have remained two years confinement followed by three years supervision.

The sentencing court did not do this or any other alteration that would have achieved the sentence it had originally deemed appropriate under *Gallion*. Instead, by making the three year probation term consecutive to the entire term of imprisonment in 20CF329, the court added two years to its original term of supervision. Because the court could have legally achieved the sentence it had originally deemed appropriate with an alternative sentence structure, the court unknowingly overlooked that a different sentence structure would achieved the stated goal of the global sentence.

Postconviction, the circuit court did not address whether or how alternative sentence structures might have achieved the original sentencing goals, or whether they were unknowingly overlooked. This Court should find, in its *de novo* review, that at least one alternative sentence structure did exist and the court's silence on how this sentence structure might have achieved its stated goal of two years confinement followed by three years supervision demonstrates that it was unknowingly overlooked.

Case 2021AP001943 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-28-2022 Page 10 of 14

C. The new factor warrants modification.

Our supreme court has explained that the sentencing court's "rationale must ... be set forth on the record" because the sentencing "decision will not be understood by the people and cannot be reviewed by the appellate courts unless the reasons for decisions can be examined." *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶38, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 560, 678 N.W.2d 197, 208 (quotation marks and citation omitted); *see also State v. Bolstad*, 2021 WI App 81, ¶27, — Wis. 2d ——, — N.W.2d —— . This obligation is also codified by statute. "The court shall state the reasons for its sentencing decision and ... shall do so in open court and on the record." Wis. Stat. § 973.017 (10m)(a).

Here, the court properly exercised its discretion when it meted out the original sentence. The court reviewed the PSI and the parties' recommendations, listened to arguments of counsel, heard from Mr. Blount's family members and provided Mr. Blount with an opportunity for allocution. (69:23-24). The court reviewed the severity of the crimes involved and appropriately set forth its rational on the record when it imposed the global sentence consisting of two years confinement followed by three years supervision. (69:23-27).

When the circuit court subsequently increased the length of supervision from three to five years, however, it erroneously exercised its discretion. After considering the appropriate factors, the court had been explicit that the term of probation should last "one more year than his ES...." (69:29). The court did not

Case 2021AP001943 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-28-2022 Page 11 of 14

explain why the goal of three years total supervision became inadequate once the prosecutor pointed out that probation could not be concurrent to only the extended supervision portion of a term of imprisonment. And there is no reason that justifies this increase. The only thing that had changed was the court's understanding of the legal impermissibly of the sentence structure it had imposed, not the gravity of the offense, Mr. Blount's rehabilitative needs or any other factor that suggested Mr. Blount required a longer term of supervision.

Though not as extreme as incarceration, supervision through the criminal justice system is a deprivation of liberty. See Wis. Stat. § 973.10 ("[i]mposition of probation shall have the effect of placing the defendant in the custody of the department"). Supervisees are required to follow rules and regulations that directly affect the manner in which they live. See State v. Tarrell, 74 Wis. 2d 647, 654, 247 N.W.2d 696, (1976) (abrogated on other grounds). Supervisees are subjected to a relaxation of their constitutional protections, and the department is entitled to supervise and scrutinize all that they do. Id. As such, though the liberty interest at stake may be less than confinement, Gallion's call for the "minimum amount of custody ... which is consistent with the protection of the public, the gravity of the offense and the rehabilitative needs of the defendant" is equally relevant when deciding the appropriate term of supervision. Gallion, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶44 (quoting State v. McCleary, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 276, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971)). Here, the court determined the

minimum term of supervision consistent with the protection of the public, the gravity of the offense and the rehabilitative needs of the defendant was three years following his confinement.

Postconviction, the court stated that the second sentence it imposed was a "valid sentence." (62:9; App. 9). The judge highlighted the gravity of the offense by reading into the record a message between Mr. Blount and his ex-girlfriend that formed the basis for one of the disorderly conduct convictions, emphasizing the foul language and unattractive tone. (62:6-7; App. 5-6). But the court was aware of this factual basis for the crime when it stated the original goal of three years supervision. Similarly, the postconviction court noted that five years of supervision was appropriate because Mr. Blount would then receive corrections assistance to help him achieve his goal of attending culinary school. (62:7; App. 6). But again, the court was aware of this goal when it determined that three years supervision was sufficient to assist Mr. Blount in his rehabilitation. (69:19).

That the court felt the new sentence was justified merely demonstrates that upon reflection, it had second thoughts about the original sentence. This does not create a legal basis on which a court may change a sentence imposed and this alone warrants sentence modification. *Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶40; *see Cresci v. State*, 89 Wis. 2d 495, 504, 278 N.W.2d 850, 854 (1979) (noting a court's inherent authority to modify a sentence when there has been an erroneous exercise of discretion). That the court denied

Mr. Blount's request to reinstate the original sentencing goals given this legal error demonstrates that the court again erroneously exercised its discretion. Because discretion was properly exercised when the court determined three years of supervision following confinement adequately met Mr. Blount's and the public's needs, sentence modification to reflect the original sentencing goals is warranted.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated in this brief, Mr. Blount respectfully requests that this Court vacate his sentence and remand to the circuit court with directions to modify the sentence such that the original global sentence of two years confinement followed by three years supervision is achieved.