Filed 04-25-2022

Page 1 of 13

FILED 04-25-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2021AP001943-CR Racine County Circuit Case No. 2020CF000528

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMMIE L. BLOUNT,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF AND JUDGEMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MAUREEN M. MARTINEZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

PATRICIA J. HANSON District Attorney, Racine County

DIANE M. DONOHOO Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1018090 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

ISSUES PRESENTED

Blount appeals the trial court's denial of his motion to modify his sentence. Blount's claim that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion during sentencing was forfeited when he failed to object and preserve the issue. The trial court clearly articulated its sentencing goals. The court stated an intended length of probation, ordered the term of probation to be consecutive to a term of prison, then immediately thereafter ordered that it be concurrent to a term of extended supervision. When the court then realized that it could not order probation concurrent to extended supervision, the trial court had not only the authority, but the duty, to correct its misstatement. The trial court then acted properly when it ordered the probationary term to be served consecutively to a prison sentence, even if doing so lengthened the probationary term beyond that which may have been originally contemplated by the court.

Was any alleged error forfeited by failing to object?

The post-conviction court did not answer this question.

This Court should say: No.

Was the circuit court's sentencing decision an erroneous exercise of discretion?

The circuit court answered: No.

Did Blount present a new factor warranting sentence modification?

The circuit court answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication as the issues presented can be decided on the basis of well-established law.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The State agrees with the statement of facts Blount included. However, Blount omitted one important statement made by the trial court during the sentencing hearing. Blount correctly noted that the prosecutor asked the court if the probation term was to be concurrent or consecutive to the prison sentence. (Blount Br. P. 5). Blount asserts that the trial court responded by saying, "it will be concurrent with his ES, but then it [will] last farther than his ES. Its one more year than his ES is going to be. Because his ES will be two years." (Blount Br. P. 5). However, a closer reading of the transcript reflects that in fact the trial court first said, "It's consecutive to the prison." (R:69:29). The trial court then continued and made the statements Blount quoted. (R:69:29).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a claim is forfeited or adequately preserved for appeal is a question of law which this court will review de novo. *State v. Coffee*, 2020 WI 1, ¶ 17, 389 Wis. 2d 627, 641, 937 N.W.2d 579, 586.

Whether the trial court's sentence was appropriate is reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion with an emphasis on reviewing whether the reasons for the sentence are adequately set forth on the record. *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 8, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 546, 678 N.W.2d 197, 202.

Whether a defendant has presented a new factor for a sentence modification is a question of law which this court will review independently. The question as to whether a new factor merits a sentence modification is reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion. *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 33, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 71, 797 N.W.2d 828, 837.

ARGUMENT

I. Any error, if one existed, was forfeited as Blount failed to object at the time of sentencing.

No sentencing error occurred. But even if error occurred, Blount forfeited it by failing to timely object.

The rule of forfeiture applies when certain rights are not timely asserted, a situation which is applicable in this case. "The purpose of the 'forfeiture' rule is to enable the circuit court to avoid or correct any error with minimal disruption of the judicial process, eliminating the need for appeal." $State\ v.\ Coffee$, 2020 WI 1, ¶ 19, 389 Wis. 2d 627, 642, 937 N.W.2d 579, 586. (citations omitted) In Coffee, the issue was whether Coffee forfeited his right by failing to object to the introduction of inaccurate information at sentencing. The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the forfeiture rule did not apply in that situation, but affirmed the sentence after finding the error to be harmless. Id., ¶ 39.

Coffee is distinguishable from the case at hand. In Coffee, the Court held that when defense counsel was faced with what turned out to be inaccurate information, "defense counsel does not know what defense counsel does not know".

Case 2021AP001943 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-25-2022 Page 6 of 13

Id. ¶ 29. Thus, Coffee could not be deemed to have forfeited an objection not reasonably known by counsel to be made.

By contrast, Blount has not alleged that he was sentenced based upon inaccurate information. Blount claim ineffective assistance of counsel. It is readily counsel's that trial sentencing arguments demonstrated an understanding of the law on sentencing. (R:69:16-22). Also, defense counsel was given a chance to comment after the court stated that the probation term was to be consecutive to the prison sentence. Rather than raising an objection, he merely recited, "So the three of the probation consecutive to the sentence." (R:69:30). If any objection was to be had, that was the time to make it. By failing to do so, any alleged error was forfeited. The State further submits that in light of the authority cited below in Parts II and III, had an objection been made, it would have been unsuccessful.

For all of these reasons, this Court should deem any claim of error to have been forfeited.

II. The trial court's sentence was lawful and valid.

The trial court in this case articulated the general sentencing objectives early in its comments and how it prioritized those objectives. (R:69:24). After describing the facts of the case and how they relate to the sentencing objectives, (R:69:24-27), the court decided that prison was necessary to effectuate its objectives. (R:69:27). The court then agreed that probation was also needed and when asked, stated that the probation would be "consecutive to the prison." (R:69:29). The court followed that statement by saying, "it will be concurrent with his ES." (R:69:29). Upon being advised that it must be concurrent or consecutive to the entire prison sentence, and not just concurrent to one part of a bifurcated sentence, the court restated its sentencing objectives and once again ordered the probation to be served consecutively. (R:69:30).

In State v. Gruetzmacher, 2004 WI 55, 271 Wis. 2d 585, 679 N.W.2d 533, a case directly on point, the trial court sentenced the defendant on multiple counts in multiple files on February 19, 2002. *Id.* ¶¶ 6-7. Later the same day, the *Gruetzmacher*, trial court realized that an error occurred as it imposed a sentence that exceeded the statutory maximum on one count. *Id.* ¶ 8. The trial court notified the parties but could not conduct a hearing until two days later when the parties were available. *Id.* ¶ 8. The trial court notified the sheriff that Gruetzmacher was not to be transported to prison until after the next hearing and entered a temporary stay in effect until the next sentencing hearing. *Id.* ¶ 9.

The *Gruetzmacher* trial court held a second sentencing hearing on March 5, 2002, wherein it reiterated its sentencing objectives and rendered a new sentence consistent with its goals. Id. ¶ 10. Gruetzmacher subsequently filed a motion with the trial court claiming double jeopardy barred the trial court from correcting its sentence structure by giving Gruetzmacher confinement time after first ruling that probation was appropriate. Id. ¶ 12. The court granted Gruetzmacher's motion and held a third sentencing hearing on September 16, 2002. Id. ¶ 13. The Gruetzmacher trial court then ordered probation on that count and the State appealed. Id. ¶ 13.

Noting that "our jurisprudence has placed a premium on ensuring finality of judgments and not subjecting defendants to endless prosecutions or multiple punishments", the Supreme Court analyzed the line of cases which addressed sentences which have been commenced to be served versus ones not yet begun at the time a correction of a sentencing error was made. Id. ¶¶ 23-34. The Court held that "the fact that the justice system as a whole had not yet begun to act upon the circuit court's sentence is an important fact that bears emphasis." Id. ¶ 38. The Court concluded that Gruetzmacher did not have an expectation of finality in the

Case 2021AP001943 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-25-2022 Page 8 of 13

original sentence imposed at the February hearing. Id. ¶ 40. The trial court would have corrected its error the same day if the parties had been available. Id. ¶ 38. The Court found that by conducting the September resentencing hearing, the trial court made an error of law and erroneously exercised its discretion granting Gruetzmacher's motion for resentencing. Id. ¶ 39. Thus, the Supreme Court reversed and reinstated the March 5, 2022, sentence. Id. ¶ 40-41.

If the *Gruetzmacher* trial court did not commit error by correcting its sentence almost two weeks after originally imposing an incorrect sentence, the trial court in Blount's case clearly acted properly by clarifying its intended sentencing structure within a matter of seconds. (R:69:29-30). When asked if the probation term imposed was to be concurrent to or consecutive to the prison sentence, the trial court initially said, "It's consecutive to the prison." (R:69:29) The judge followed with "Well, it will be concurrent with the ES, but then it [will] last farther than his ES." (R:69:29). Once the parties pointed out that the term of probation could not run concurrent to only the extended supervision part of a bifurcated sentence, the court reiterated its sentencing objectives and once again order that the term of probation be served consecutive to the prison sentence. The trial court stated, "Okay. Well, my thoughts were, is that he needs time to engage in the culinary school, and they can help him with all of that on probation. So I'm going to say it's consecutive." (R:69:30).

The flaw in Blount's argument is the mistaken belief that the trial court was precluded from correcting the misstatement made during the sentencing hearing in any way other than in his favor. Rendering a sentence is one of the most critical and solemn aspects in all of our criminal justice system. It is not, as Blount's argument implies, akin to a game where the rules require that we must accept the trial court's first answer. If that were the case, it is clear that the first utterance by the court on the issue was to order the probation term to be served *consecutively* to his prison sentence. (R: 69:29).

Once the trial court realized its misstatement, it immediately cured any error. Blount had obviously not yet started to serve his sentence and thus had no expectation that his sentence was final. Not only was the ink not yet dry on the judgment of conviction, the sentencing hearing had not concluded for the clerk to prepare the document.

The court was required to render a lawful sentence that fully and accurately reflected its stated sentencing objectives. When the remarks of the trial court are taken in context, it is clear that Blount's ultimate sentence as ordered on January 22, 2021, was what the court intended in order to achieve its stated sentencing objectives. It was lawful. It was valid. It should be the sentence served.

III. Blount failed to present a new factor that warrants sentence modification.

To prevail on a motion to modify sentence, "the defendant must demonstrate both the existence of a new factor and that the new factor justifies modification of the sentence." *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 38, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 73, 797 N.W.2d 828, 838. Blount has not proven either prong.

Blount concedes that "the trial court properly exercised its discretion when it meted out the *original* sentence." (Blount Br. P. 10) (Emphasis added). The State agrees. Originally, the court ordered the probation term to be served consecutively to his prison sentence. (R: 69:29) When the trial court was prompted that it could not run probation concurrent to extended supervision, it reiterated its 'original' sentence as the order of the court. Blount now argues that the trial court "misunderstood the law governing sentencing structure." (Blount Br. P. 6). The State submits that Blount's accusations that the trial court did not understand the law is

Case 2021AP001943 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-25-2022 Page 10 of 13

misplaced and that the trial court merely made a misstatement which was immediately corrected. Even if for the few seconds when the court may have thought it could run probation concurrent to extended supervision, that was not the 'original' sentence. The original proclamation was for probation consecutive to prison. (R:69:29).

The State posits that Blount does not cite a new factor at all, he merely recounts what happened historically. (Blount Br. p. 10), and he assumes he is entitled to sentence modification because he identifies a preferred sentencing structure. (Blount Br. p. 8-13). Blount had an opportunity at the sentencing hearing to convince the trial court that his sentencing structure was appropriate. (R:69:16-22). The court rejected his argument in part by ordering a prison sentence in the case not on appeal. (R:69:27-30).

Blount has not identified any new fact not known to the court at the time of sentencing nor has he offered a set of facts that were overlooked. Harbor, ¶ 40. The court was well aware of its options. Once the trial court's misstatement was identified, the court clarified its intent and rendered a legal and valid sentence. This was all done at the time of sentencing, nothing was overlooked. Blount is not entitled to relief just because he does not like his sentence.

For all of the above stated reasons, Blount's assertion that a new factor has been presented, and proven to the required level of proof, should be rejected by this court.

IV. The trial court lacked the authority to reduce Blount's probation.

Not only is Blount not legally entitled to the relief he seeks because it is not a new factor, he is not entitled to a reduction of the term of probation at all. Blount is not asking for the *conditions* of probation to be modified, nor is he asking for the length to be *extended*. He is asking for something the

Case 2021AP001943 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-25-2022 Page 11 of 13

trial court cannot legally grant to him—a reduction in the length of the probation term.

The trial court lacked the authority to reduce the term of probation once the valid sentence was imposed, and the sentence began to be served. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that the court's authority to modify a term of probation is limited to modifying the conditions and terms, but not shortening the length. See Wis. Stat. §973.09(3)(a). It would be an error as a matter of law to have shortened the length of probation in this case. State v. Dowdy, 2012 WI 12, ¶ 42, 338 Wis. 2d 565, 586–87, 808 N.W.2d 691, 702; See also State v. Schwind, 2019 WI 48, ¶ 33, 386 Wis. 2d 526, 546–47, 926 N.W.2d 742, 752 (courts do not have the inherent authority to reduce a term of probation).

This court should reject Blount's position which implicitly means if a trial court makes a misstatement, even one corrected within seconds, that the defendant should win some sort of benefit from such a minor human error. Such an unreasonable expectation would put a trial court in the untenable position of mandating perfection in every utterance spoken. That cannot be the standard expected for any participant in the criminal justice system.

CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons stated herein, this Court should affirm the circuit court's order denying Blount's motion to modify his sentence. Dated this 21st day of April 2022.